
  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 1 

CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD 

MINUTES 

Thursday, August 18, 2016 
 

MINUTES ARE NOT VERBATIM 

 

A meeting of the Okaloosa County Code Enforcement Board was held Thursday, 

August 18, 2016 at 4:00 p.m. at the Okaloosa County Administration Building, 1250 Eglin 

Parkway N., first floor Commissioner’s Chambers, Shalimar, Florida. Board members in 

attendance were Spence King, Skip Miller, Fay Seketa and Cathy Alley. Caralee Gibson, 

Mike Banks and Dennis Chavez were not present.  Assistant County Attorney Kerry 

Parsons was also present.  
 

Growth Management staff in attendance were Elliot Kampert, Growth Management 

Director; Lisa Payton, Code Enforcement Supervisor; Carlos Jones, Code Enforcement 

Officer and Teresa Mullins, Administrative Assistant.  
 

1. ROLL CALL 
 

Teresa Mullins conducted roll call. 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF May 19, 2016   
 

Motion to approve the minutes as written made by Skip Miller, Second by Cathy Alley; 

approved unanimously.  
 

3. SWEARING IN OF ALL SPEAKERS 
 

Ms. Mullins swore in those wishing to address the Board. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:   
 

Ms. Payton stated that she would like to acknowledge the guests in attendance, Mr. & Mrs. 

Wambaugh, who, along with Code Enforcement Officer Carlos Jones, are present to see how 

the Code Enforcement Board operates. 
 

5. OLD BUSINESS:  
 

a. 1340 Charlie Day Road, Baker Update. 
 

Ms. Payton reminded the Board that this was an issue involving an abandoned burned out 

trailer and, at the May 19, 2016 meeting the Board approved the following motion: 
 

Motion to give 60 days to remove the mobile home and if it is not removed 

then it becomes a clean and lien situation along with a fine of $250.00 per 

day retroactive to today and that notice of this order be made to the potential 

buyer made by Skip Miller; Second by Mike Banks; approved unanimously. 
 

Ms. Payton stated that the trailer was removed and the property cleaned within the 

time limit given by the Board and the property is now in compliance.  Ms. Payton 

further stated that staff is requesting that this issue be removed from the agenda. 



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 2 

A brief discussion ensued.  
 

Motion to remove this item from the agenda made by Caralee Gibson; Second by 

Skip Miller; approved unanimously.   
 

b. 4819 Gilmore Road, Holt Update. 
 

Ms. Payton reminded the Board that this issue involved a property filled with debris, 

unregistered vehicles and boats some of which are unusable.  Ms. Payton stated that the 

Board, at the May 19, 2016 meeting approved the following motion: 
 

Motion that we give them the 60 days and within that 60 days they need to 

show Code Enforcement that they’re making an honest effort to bring the 

property into compliance, and have this issue appear on the next meeting 

agenda with pictures showing that they’re making an honest effort, and if 

they’re not making an honest effort then it would go to a fine of $250.00 per 

day retroactive to today and would go to the Board of County Commissioners 

for a clean and lien made by Mike Banks; Second by Skip Miller; approved 

unanimously. 
 

Ms. Payton informed the Board that nothing has been done on that property.  Ms. 

Payton stated that she is providing an update on them as well and noted that the 

owner of the property is elderly.  Ms. Payton further stated that the roof of the 

house on the property is falling in; however, the elderly owner does not live in the 

house, rather, he when he is on the site he lives in an RV that sits in front of the 

house.  Ms. Payton noted that the RV has a tarp covering it, held down by bricks 

because the roof of the RV also has leaks.  Ms. Payton stated that she, as well as 

another Code Officer have gone out to the site on multiple occasions to speak with 

Mr. Broxson, the owner, because staff would like to see if they can get some help 

for him as they believe that he is unable to afford the clean-up.  Ms. Payton further 

stated that Mr. Broxson’s daughter has not been responsive to staff’s attempts to 

contact her regarding the situation.  Ms. Payton stated that staff is at a loss as to 

how to deal with this situation, noting that while the Board can vote to place a clean 

and lien on the site, there is a question as to what will happen to Mr. Broxson as he 

lives there.  Ms. Payton further stated that she and staff have been trying to find 

help for Mr. Broxson, even to making attempts to contact Habitat for Humanity® to 

see if they could provide help; however they have not had any success to date.   
 

Ms.  Payton provided pictures of the site from staff’s file. 
 

Ms. Payton noted that, while Mr. Broxson is elderly, he has been able to bring items 

onto the site.  Ms. Payton noted that Mr. Broxson seems to be content living on the 

site as it is, and he would need help to get the site cleaned up.  
 

Ms. Cathy Alley asked how staff found out about this problem.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that a complaint was filed by a neighbor across the street, who 

was concerned about mosquitos coming from the site in light of the growing 

concerns regarding the Zika virus.  



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 3 

Ms. Alley noted that there was a “For Sale” sign in the yard and asked if the 

property was listed for sale.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that the sign was in place regarding some of the items on the site, 

not the property itself. 
 

Chairman Spence King noted that the motion made at the last meeting was pretty 

clear cut.  Chairman King further stated that he felt that issue should now move on 

to the Board of County Commissioners as a clean and lien request.  
 

Assistant County Attorney Kerry Parsons stated that, as the motion was so clear, it 

is not necessary for the Board to take further action on this issue.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that she was just providing the Board with an update as required 

by the Board in that motion.  
 

Ms. Alley noted that there is a safety and fire issue with that property.  
 

A brief discussion ensued. 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS:   
 

a. CEB CASE #16-403473 Thomas V. Kolmetz Jr. & Annie R. Kolmetz  

  Location of Violation:   1511 & 1550 Hwy 90 W, Baker 
 

 Ordinance Violation and Public Nuisance. 
 

Okaloosa County Land Development Ordinance 91-1 as amended, Chapter 

9, Operational Performance Standards, Section 9.03.05 Public Nuisance, and 

Ordinance 12-25, Article III, Abandoned and Nuisance Vehicles. 
 

Ms. Payton informed the Board that staff received a complaint in June of 2015 regarding 

mosquitos coming from stagnant water in the boats on the site.  Ms. Payton stated that staff 

visited the site and took photographs.  Ms. Payton further stated that staff spoke with Mr. 

Kolmetz and the complainant in a conference call regarding the issues on the site and what 

needed to be done to solve the problem.  Ms. Payton stated that staff made several follow-up 

visits to the site and found no progress; therefore, on December 17, 2015 a correction notice 

was issued both to Mr. Kolmetz and to his tenant, Brian Fowler telling them to remove the 

boats, cars and debris from the property within thirty (30) days.  Ms. Payton further stated 

that due to sheer number of cars and boats on the property staff extended the time allowed up 

to six (6) months; however, as there was no progress within that time, this issue was 

scheduled to be heard by this Board.  Ms. Payton noted Mr. Fowler called her just prior to 

this meeting and informed her that he is in the midst of a property dispute with Mr. Kolmetz.  

Ms. Payton stated that she told Mr. Fowler that property disputes are a civil issues that are 

handled by the courts and Code Enforcement orders as well as Board orders go against the 

property, not an individual.  Ms. Payton further stated that Mr. Fowler was seeking to get this 

issue tabled until such time as the property dispute was resolved.  Ms. Payton stated that she 

checked the status of the case and found that it has been dismissed by Judge Flowers; 

therefore, there is no active property dispute and Mr. Kolmetz is the owner of the property in 

question.  Ms. Payton further stated that Mr. Kolmetz is present to address the Board.  



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 4 

Chairman King asked Ms. Payton to provide the Board with staff’s recommendation.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that staff’s recommendation is to provide Mr. Kolmetz with time, as 

designated by the Board, to make significant improvement in removing the vehicles and 

complying with the Code or institute a fine.  Ms. Payton informed the Board that Mr. 

Kolmetz could meet the Code by simply covering the vehicles and boats with approved 

covers and placing them behind an opaque fence and could register those vehicles which are 

still road worthy.  
 

Ms. Caralee Gibson asked for legal advice regarding vehicles which are abandoned on 

someone else’s private property, asking if those vehicles would fall under seizure law 

wherein the County would take ownership.  
 

Attorney Parsons stated that in this case that would not apply because this is private property 

not land owned by the County and any attempt to do so would take many years.   
 

Ms. Gibson asked if staff could find the owner for each unregistered vehicle and boat.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that staff could fine the property owner three hundred fifty dollars 

($350.00) for each unregistered vehicle and/or vessel. 
 

Ms. Alley asked Mr. Kolmetz why nothing has been done over the past 6 months to clean up 

the site.  
 

Mr. Victor Kolmetz stated that Mr. Brian Fowler informed them that the County was in 

conflict with him building a privacy fence.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that Mr. Fowler also 

told them that the property was zoned for commercial use which is why he brought in all of 

the cars and boats. Mr. Kolmetz stated that they were trying to work out a deal with Mr. 

Fowler so that he would put up a privacy fence.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that his father 

loaned Mr. Fowler thirty thousand dollars ($30,000.00) which was supposed to be paid off in 

a year, and when Mr. Fowler did not repay the money and interest owed, Mr. Kolmetz’s 

father foreclosed, which is how he became the owner of the property.  Mr. Kolmetz stated 

that his father gave Mr. Fowler time to get his belongings off of the property, and when Mr. 

Fowler refused to leave, Mr. Kolmetz’s father evicted him.  Mr. Kolmetz stated that Mr. 

Fowler came back with his mother and asked if he could access the site to retrieve his car 

titles and other paperwork and was allowed to do so.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that Mr. 

Fowler then refused to leave the site, and when the police were called Mr. Fowler told them 

that he had been allowed on the site.  Mr. Kolmetz stated that the police then informed him 

that he would have to evict Mr. Fowler again.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that the property is 

now in his name as his mother deeded it to him after his father passed away.  Mr. Kolmetz 

provided the Board with a bit of his family history in explaining why his mother deeded the 

property to him.  Mr. Kolmetz stated that Mr. Fowler has begun moving some of the vehicles 

off of the property, some to Holt and some to Pensacola but he has not finished.  Mr. 

Kolmetz further stated that he believes that Code Enforcement stopped Mr. Fowler from 

moving the cars to Holt and he has run out of funds to move any more to Pensacola.  Mr. 

Kolmetz stated that, while there are fewer vehicles on site than there were, he is going to 

have to start eviction proceedings and once Mr. Fowler is evicted, get hold of one of those 

businesses that buys cars in any condition.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that no one will buy 



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 5 

the boats, but he was told to take them out to the side of Highway 90 and the Highway Patrol 

will have them hauled off.  
 

Mr. Elliot Kampert cautioned that leaving the boats on Highway 90 would be illegal 

dumping.   
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that he was just repeating what he was told.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated 

that the cost to move the boats would equal the value of the land.  
 

Mr. Kampert asked Mr. Kolmetz who told him to leave the boats by the Highway or by a 

County Road. 
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that he thought it might have been a Highway Patrolman.  Mr. Kolmetz 

further stated that he has seen people leave abandoned trailers by the side of the road on 

Highway 85, which are then hauled off by a wrecker.  
 

Ms. Payton informed Mr. Kolmetz that the problem he has is that Code Enforcement staff is 

aware of what he said and will issue him a citation if they find those boats left by the 

roadside.  
 

Mr. Skip Miller asked Mr. Kolmetz how much time he thought would need to get Mr. Fowler 

evicted from the property and make some headway on cleaning up the site. 
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that if he filed the paperwork he thought it would take him at least a 

couple of weeks to get Mr. Fowler evicted. 

 

Mr. Miller asked Mr. Kolmetz if he thought he could make significant progress on cleaning 

the site if the Board were to allow him 60 days to get Mr. Fowler evicted and start the clean-

up.  
 

Attorney Parsons informed the Chairman and Board that the eviction process generally takes 

approximately three (3) months from the beginning to the end of the process.   
 

Chairman King asked where Mr. Fowler was living on the site.  
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that Mr. Fowler has a couple of small motor homes and he is living in 

one of them.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that he has had the power and water for the site 

turned off.  
 

Ms. Gibson noted that some of the vehicles on the site looked as if they might have some 

value.  Ms. Gibson asked if all of the vehicles have titles.  
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that Mr. Fowler had all the titles to the vehicles.  Mr. Kolmetz, further, 

made a comment regarding the persons who made the complaint against his property. 

 

Ms. Alley asked Mr. Kolmetz if he would have the funds to fence the property if the Board 

gives him 90 days to evict Mr. Fowler.  
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that he wants that property cleared off as well.  Mr. Kolmetz further 

stated that, once the eviction process is complete, he intends to call those places that 

advertise that they’ll buy any car in any condition and have those folks come get all of the 



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 6 

cars and trucks.  Mr. Kolmetz noted that he didn’t think it would take a whole three (3) 

months to evict Mr. Fowler.  

 

Mr. Miller proposed a motion that the Board give Mr. Kolmetz 90 days to get through the 

eviction process and hopefully shortly thereafter he can make some inroads into getting some 

of this stuff cleaned up, perhaps everything but the boats and we can tackle the boats later 
 

Ms. Alley seconded Mr. Miller’s proposed motion for purposes of discussion.  
 

Chairman King asked Mr. Kolmetz how he would be able to sell the vehicles given that Mr. 

Fowler holds the titles.  
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that he could sell them without the titles. 
 

Attorney Parsons stated that those issues would be taken care of by the Judge during the 

eviction proceedings.  Attorney Parsons further stated that typically the Judge will tell the 

person being evicted to removal all tangible personal property from the site otherwise, if the 

personal property is left, it would typically be deemed abandoned. 
 

Ms. Gibson asked if there was a way to set it up so that the proceeds from the sale of the 

abandoned vehicles would be used to pay for the removal of the boats and other remaining 

items/debris.  
 

Attorney Parsons stated that the Board does not have the authority to make that a requirement 

as it is not within the Board’s jurisdiction; however, the Courts might be able to do so. 
 

Ms. Gibson stated that a fine should be included in the motion and suggested that the fine 

should be retroactive to today’s meeting date.  Ms. Gibson stated she has concerns that this 

situation has been going on for quite a while and will continue on with no resolution without 

including a fine. 
 

Mr. Miller stated that he did not intend the fine to be retroactive to this meeting date but, 

rather, that the fine should start at the end of the 90 days and amended the proposed motion 

to clarify that point by stating that at the end of 90 days, if the eviction process has not taken 

place then a fine of $250.00 per day from that day onward. 
 

Ms. Alley seconded the amended motion, again for purposes of discussion. 
 

Chairman King stated that he recommends that the fine and any subsequent language should 

be removed as he believes Mr. Kolmetz intends to take care of the issue.  Chairman King 

further stated that while Mr. Kolmetz is the property owner, the problems have been caused 

by his tenant and Mr. Kolmetz cannot be held responsible if the Court system is slow and 

takes longer than 90 days.  Chairman King stated that he believes that the motion should end 

with the requirement that Mr. Kolmetz reappear before the Board and if nothing is done, then 

the fine can start from that very day.  
 

Ms. Gibson asked staff how long they have been dealing with this situation.  
 

Ms. Payton stated that staff has been involved with this situation since June of 2015.  

 



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 7 

Ms. Gibson noted that this situation has been going on for over a year and the tenant has been 

evicted once and then allowed to return.  Ms. Gibson asked how long the tenant has been 

back on the site. 
 

Ms. Payton stated that the tenant was evicted prior to Code Enforcement’s involvement in the 

case.  Ms. Payton further stated that the eviction took place while Mr. Kolmetz’s father was 

alive and his father has been deceased for three (3) years. 
 

Ms. Gibson asked how long Mr. Fowler has been back on the property. 
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that Mr. Fowler has been back for three (3) years.  Mr. Kolmetz further 

stated that he has tried to deal with Mr. Fowler but it’s been difficult.  
 

Ms. Gibson stated that she was concerned that the eviction process hadn’t been started a long 

time ago given that this situation has been going on and getting worse for so long.  Ms. 

Gibson advised Mr. Kolmetz that if the Board approves a ninety (90) day extension, then he 

would be wise to take action immediately and not wait until the last minute.  
 

Chairman King asked Mr. Kolmetz how long his mother has been ill.  
 

Mr. Kolmetz stated that his mother put the property in his name approximately two (2) years 

ago and it was after that that the temporary guardianship was put in place.  Mr. Kolmetz 

further stated that his father owned forty-one (41) rental houses with low income tenants.  

Mr. Kolmetz stated that he’s been concentrating on upgrading those houses so that he can get 

Section 8 approval; because, he stated, that would let him get the low income people out of 

the houses.  Mr. Kolmetz further stated that he only has seventeen (17) of the forty-one (41) 

houses ready so far and noted that he is paying property taxes on all forty-one (41) of the 

houses even though they aren’t all rented.  Mr. Kolmetz noted that he isn’t doing the physical 

labor on the rental properties due to various health issues.  
 

A brief discussion ensued.  
 

Chairman King asked Ms. Mullins to restate the motion as made and seconded.  
 

Ms. Mullins read the motion as made and seconded into the record. 
 

Motion that we give Mr. Kolmetz 90 days to get through the eviction process and hopefully 

shortly thereafter he can make some inroads into getting some of this stuff cleaned up, 

perhaps everything but the boats and we can tackle the boats later and at the end of 90 days if 

the eviction process has not taken place then a fine of $250.00 per day from that day on made 

by Skip Miller; Second by Cathy Alley; approved, 4 ayes, 1 nay (Spence King). 
 

 

A brief discussion ensued. 

 

 
 

  
 

  

   



  

   

         Code Enforcement Board 8.18.2016 8 

 

 
 

7.  OTHER BUSINESS: 
 

None. 
 

8.   ADJOURN  
 

Motion to adjourn made by Cathy Alley; second by Caralee Gibson; approved unanimously.   
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by: _______________________________ 

                     Teresa Mullins, Administrative Assistant II 

          8.26.16 


